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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

IN AND FOR THE DISTRICT OF UTAH 
 
 
 

MARK CHRISTOPHER TRACY d/b/a 
Emigration Canyon Home Owners 
Association, 
 
 Plaintiff, 
 
vs. 
 
SIMPLIFI COMPANY,  et al. 
 
 Defendants. 

 
 

MEMORADUM IN OPPOSITION TO 
DEFENDANTS’ MOTIONS TO 

DISMISS 
 

Case No.:  2:21-cv-00444-RJS-CMR 
 

    Judge: Robert J. Shelby 

    Magistrate: Cecilia M. Romero 

Mark Christopher Tracy (“Mr. Tracy”) d/b/a Emigration Canyon Home Owners 

Association (“The ECHO-Association”) hereby submits this Memorandum in Opposition 

to the Motion to Dismiss filed by Defendants Simplifi Company (“Simplifi”),1 Emigration 

Canyon Deputy Mayor Jennifer Hawkes (“Deputy Mayor Hawkes”), Eric Lee Hawkes 

(“Mr. Hawkes”), and Utah Attorney Jeremy R. Cook of the Salt Lake City law firm Cohne 

 
1 As Simplifi failed to file a mandatory Disclosure Statement pursuant to Rule 7.1 Federal 
Rules of Civil Procedure, Mr. Tracy objects to Motion to Dismiss filed on behalf of 
Simplifi in its entirety. 
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Kinghorn P.C. (successor in interest to Parsons Kinghorn Peters P.C. )(“Utah Attorney 

Cook”)(collectively “Simplifi Defendants”)2 to include the Motion to Dismiss filed by 

Defendant David M. Bennion3 (“Defendant Bennion”)(collectively “Defendants”) stating 

as follows. 

I. INTRODUCTION 

 The present litigation details the willful impairment of a constitutionally protected 

and senior property right to clean, safe culinary drinking water in Emigration Canyon (the 

“Canyon”) under the color of state law and therewith use and enjoyment of a private home 

pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 (“Section 1983”) to include unlawful agreement to collect 

improper fees and costs via Utah state tax-foreclosure sale pursuant to a class-based animus 

under 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3) (“Section 1985”). 

Defendants argue that Mr. Tracy lacks legal standing to commence the instant 

litigation due to the fact that the assignment of statutory federal civil right claims is void 

under Utah common law.  Moreover, because the Complaint is untimely and fails to include 

sufficient factual allegations to support a claim that is plausible on its face, the Court should 

award legal fees and costs against Mr. Tracy and find Mr. Tracy to be a vexatious litigant 

subject to a pre-filling order.4 

 
2 Dkt. No. 6. 
3 Dkt. No. 7. 
4 As this Court has not granted a Motion to Dismiss filed by either Simplifi Defendants or 
Defendant Bennion, Mr. Tracy declines to address factual allegations of a premature 
motion for attorney fees and costs under 42 U.S.C. § 1988.  Mr. Tracy furthermore 
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These arguments fail. 

Assignment of claims for willful damage to private property under the color of state 

law are lawful, and Mr. Tracy has timely filed and sufficiently pled the requirements of an 

unlawful conspiracy of private persons under 42 U.S.C. §1985(3) as articulated in Griffin 

v. Breckenridge, 403 US 88 (1971). 

Mr. Tracy requests that the Court deny Defendants’ motions or in the alternative 

grant leave to file amendment to incorporate additional factual information as outlined 

herein. 

II. ARGUMENT 

A. Motion to Dismiss Standard. 

In considering a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), the court must accept all 

well-pleaded facts as true and viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party.  

Ruiz v. McDonnell, 299 F.3d 1173, 1181 (10th Cir. 2002).  The court may grant a motion 

to dismiss only if it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff is unable to prove any set of 

facts entitling to relief under the plaintiff’s theory of recovery.  Id. citing Conley v. Gibson, 

355 U.S. 41, 45-46 (1957).  As such, in order to survive a motion to dismiss, a plaintiff 

must provide “enough facts to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.”  Bell 

Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 127 S. Ct. 1955, 1974 (2007).  The court’s 

function on a Rule 12 (b)(6) motion is not to weight potential evidence that the parties 

 
objects to all such factual representations submitted to the Court by Defendants as 
impermissible under Rule 403 Federal Rules of Evidence.  
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might present at trial, but to assess whether there is reason to believe that the plaintiff has 

a reasonable likelihood of factual support for these claims.  Ridge at Red Hawk, L.L.C. v. 

Schneider, 493 F.3d 1174, 1177 (10th Cir. 2007). 

B. Mr. Tracy Has Legal Standing to Assert Assigned Federal Civil Right Claims. 

Defendants argue that in an unpublished and subsequently vacated decision ordered 

by the United States Court of Appeals for the 10th Circuit Court,5 Robert J. Shelby, 

presiding judge of the instant Action, determined that Section 1983 and Section 19856 

claims may not be assigned in Utah.7 

Addressing claims of purported First Amendment and Due Process violations, it 

must be conceded that this Court did initially rule that a federal civil right violation “is an 

injury to the individual rights of a person” and is more similar to a “personal injury tort” 

than to claims for damages to property or breach of contract.  Am. Charities for 

Reasonable Fundraising Regul., Inc. v. O'Bannon, No. 2:08-CV-875, 2016 WL 4775527, 

at *6 (D. Utah Sept. 13, 2016)(unpublished). 

This Court’s previous (but vacated) blanket conclusion that Section 1983 claims are 

“personal injury torts” and thus are not assignable under Utah common law is however 

 
5 American Charities Reasonable Funding v. O’Bannon, 909 F.3d 329, 334 (10th Circuit 
2018).  
6 Contrary to the Simplifi Defendants’ recital, Judge Robert J. Shelby did not rule on 
Section 1985 but only Section 1983 claims. 
7 Simplifi Motion to Dismiss at page 6 and Defendant Bennion Motion to Dismiss at page 
4.  
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inconsistent with the guidance of the United States Supreme Court and is ripe for 

reconsideration in the light of the allegations of the instant Action.  

Specifically, for Utah common law to govern disposition of the present case, two 

(2) requirements must first be met: 

1. [the federal laws] are not adapted to the [goal of protecting all persons in the 
United States in their civil rights], or are deficient in the provisions necessary to 
furnish suitable remedies and punish offenses against law; and 
 

2.  Any assessment of the applicability of a state law to federal civil rights litigation 
. . . must be made in light of the purpose and nature of the federal right.  Wilson 
v. Garcia, 471 U.S. 261, 267 (1985) (citation omitted) (internal quotation marks 
omitted). 

 
 As such, under the second prong of Wilson, while assignment of a wrongful death 

or personal injury cause of action may have bearing on federal civil rights litigation, the 

present case specially addresses a constitutional right to the use and enjoyment of private 

property and should be evaluated as such when deciding if the assignment of statutory 

federal civil right may be determined by state law.  

 Under the first prong of Wilson, the Complaint alleges that Utah Attorney Cook, a 

licensed legal professional specializing in water rights, willfully mispresented both the 

validity and priority date of duplicitous water shares claimed by Emigration Improvement 

District (“EID” aka Emigration Canyon Improvement District aka ECID) with the positive 

knowledge that hydrological studies completed by the Utah State Engineer and EID’s own 

hydrologist had indicated that operation of large-diameter commercial wells in the Canyon 
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would impair the senior water right belonging to Karen Penske (“Ms. Penske”) “with 

almost certainty.”8 

 As a retired ICU nurse with no specialized knowledge of water rights and of modest 

means, having been denied access to hydrological studies completed with public funds, 

Ms. Penske was unable comprehend the scope and impact of Simplifi Defendants’ 

operation of large-diameter commercial wells in the Canyon’s Twin Creek Aquifer and 

thus impairment of her own constitutionally protected property right to clean, safe drinking 

water.9   

After Mr. Tracy documented massive ground subsidence and fissures in the Freeze 

Creek drainage area with the assistance of other Canyon residents and independent 

drinking water experts,10 and acquired substantial evidence of lead contamination of all 

four (4) large-diameter commercial wells operated by Simplifi Defendants,11 Ms. Penske 

assigned Section 1983 and Section 1985 claims to Mr. Tracy’s dba entity The ECHO-

Association.12, 13 

 
8 Complaint at page 4, nos. 15, 17; page 7, no. 27; page 8, no. 28; page 10, no. 41.  
9 Id. at page 10, no. 43.  
10 Id. at page 11, no. 45; see also audio-video recording entitled “Aerial and Ground 
Recording of Emigration Oaks PUD near Lots Nr. 199, 171, 178, 180, 182 and 184 
(YouTube)” available at the website maintained by The ECHO-Association at 
https://echo-association.com/?page_id=3310.  
11 Id. at page 7, no. 24. 
12 Id. at page 11, no. 46.  
13 As all amendments to pending federal whistleblower litigation must be filed under 
court seal pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 3730(b)(2), Mr. Tracy must necessarily limit 
publication of documents and information related to pending FCA litigation as 
appropriate (see Complaint at page 6 no. 2). 
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 The instant Action demonstrates that pooling information and resources is critical 

to identifying and successfully prosecuting federal civil rights violations.   Under the first 

prong of Wilson, Utah common law does not furnish suitable remedies but is rather a direct 

hindrance to the prevention of continued fraudulent consolidation of senior water rights as 

additional single-family domestic wells in the Canyon suffer contamination and depletion 

by Defendants.  

 Under the requirements of Wilson, assignment of federal civil rights claims is not 

void in the State of Utah. 

C. Mr. Tracy Has Legal Standing to Assert His Own Federal Civil Right Claims. 

Mr. Tracy owns senior perfected surface water right 57-8947 (a16183).  The 

Complaint records that the Canyon Stream suffered total depletion in August 2018 for the 

first time in recorded history and continues to date.14 

Should the Court follow the recent unpublished (and later vacated) decision ruling 

that Section 1983 claims may not be assigned under Utah common law, Mr. Tracy should 

be granted leave to assert impairment of his own constitutionally protected property right 

to the surface water of the Canyon Stream. 

D. The Instant Action Has Accrued Within the Statute of Limitations Period. 

It is recognized that state law dictates when a legal action commenced under Section 

1983 and Section 1985 is timely.  Wilson v. Garcia, 471 U.S. 261, 275 (1985).  Defendant 

 
14 Complaint at page 8, no. 29. 
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Bennion notes that Section 1983 and Section 1985 claims fall within a 4-year tolling 

provision in Utah, but then offers cursory a conclusion without authority that an unlawful 

agreement and/or conduct before July 22, 2017 must be necessarily time barred.15 

This deduction is incorrect. 

While state law determines the duration of the statute of limitations, federal law 

dictates when a federal cause of action accrues.  Alexander v. Oklahoma, 382 F.3d 1206, 

1215 (10th Circuit 2004).  The federal discovery rule provides that claims accrue and “[t]he 

statute of limitations begins to run when the plaintiff knows or has reason to know of the 

existence and cause of the injury which is the basis of his action” (emphasis added).   Indus. 

Constructors Corp. v. United States Bureau of Reclamation, 15 F.3d 963, 969 (10th 

Cir.1994).  In particular, “‘[a] civil rights action accrues when facts that would support a 

cause of action are or should be apparent.’”  Fratus v. Deland, 49 F.3d 673, 675 (10th 

Cir.1995) (internal quotations omitted). 

The Complaint alleges that Defendants misrepresented and successfully concealed 

hydrology reports warning of continued groundwater mining of the Canyon’s Twin Creek 

Aquifer providing culinary drinking water service to Ms. Penske’s private home until 

December 21, 2018 when Mr. Tracy secured an original copy of the July 2000 Barnett-

Yonkee study from a previously unknown source.16 

 
15 Bennion Motion to Dismiss at page 5.  
16 Compliant at pages 10-11, nos. 43 and 44.  
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After careful monitoring water quality of her private well over a two (2) year period, 

on June 2, 2021 Ms. Penske recorded that the concentration of Total Dissolved Solids 

(“TDS”) had exceeded primary drinking water levels and thus the operation of large 

diameter commercial wells by Simplifi Defendants had in fact impaired her senior property 

right to safe drinking water as predicted.17 

Furthermore, Ms. Penske was forced to render payment to Salt Lake County on 

March 13, 2019, after Simplifi Defendants certified Ms. Penske’s home for tax-foreclosure 

sale for Ms. Penske’s refusal to pay “water base fees” used to finance the construction of 

the same lead-contaminated large-diameter commercial wells, which had impaired Ms. 

Penske’s drinking water.18 

As Ms. Penske could not have known the scope and impact of the cause of injury 

until after she had recorded that her private well was unsuitable for culinary drinking, under 

the federal discovery rule the statute of limitations period commenced on June 2, 2021.  

The instant Action is timely.  

E. Mr. Tracy Has Sufficiently Plead Section 1985 Claims.   
 

Simplifi Defendants argue that it is “irrational” that a “well-respected lawyer… 

[with] no involvement with EID [as a state actor]”19 would misuse a position of trust as a 

 
17 Id. at page 10, no. 43.  
18 Id. at page 9, no. 38. 
19 Defendant Bennion incorrectly cites that actions of a state actor are required under a 
Section 1985 claim.  Defendant Bennion Motion to Dismiss at pages 7-8.  
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community and religious leader and admonish members of the Church of Jesus Christ of 

Latter-Day-Saints, Emigration Canyon Ward No. 181358 (“Emigration Canyon Ward”) to 

pay fees and costs assessed by Simplifi Defendants necessary for continued operation of 

the Boyer Water System.20  Furthermore, Defendants argue it is beyond comprehension 

that Simplifi through Deputy Mayor Hawkes and EID financial manger Mr. Hawkes would 

create fraudulent billing and then commence tax-foreclosure proceedings against LSD 

Nonmembers due to the fact that Utah Attorney Cook and EID Trustee Chairman Michael 

Scott Hughes21 are themselves LDS Nonmembers.22  

These arguments are inconsistent with both the factual allegations of the Complaint 

as well as the requirements of Section 1985.  

Firstly, Defendant Bennion’s direct involvement and substantial economic interest 

in the construction and operation of the Boyer Water System is well documented.  

Specifically, Simplifi Defendants currently operate both the culinary drinking water and 

water sewage system of Defendant Bennion’s private luxury residence located in the 

Emigration Oaks Private Urban development (lot no. 407, Emigration Oaks PUD Phase 

4a) at public expense -- the later of which was constructed by EID Trustee Chairman 

Michael Scott Hughes as an unlicensed contractor for LDS Members including Defendant 

 
20 Simplifi Motion to Dismiss at page 8. 
21 EID is controlled by 3 trustees.  It appears that current EID trustees David Bradford 
and Brent Tippets are active members of the Emigration Canyon Ward including former 
EID trustees Mark Stevens and Lynn Hales. 
22 Simplifi Motion to Dismiss at page 9, footnote no. 8 and page 10. 
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Bennion.  See Legal Invoice of Salt Lake City law firm Parsons Kinghorn Peters P.C., 

attached as Exhibit A and excerpt of EID Trustee Meeting Minutes dated March 6, 2003, 

attached as Exhibit B; see also PDF document entitled “Undisclosed Conflict of Interest 

Between EID Trustee Chairman Michael Scott Hughes, R. Steve Creamer, Walter J. Plumb 

III (City Development Inc.), and Kem Gardner (The Boyer Company LC)” available at the 

website administered by The ECHO-Association at https://echo-

association.com/?page_id=1661.  

The Complaint further records that on June 13, 2013, facing imminent default of 

federally-backed loans, EID announced that it would collect “fire-hydrant rental fees” from 

86 Canyon residents not connected to the Boyer Water System servicing Defendant 

Bennion’s private residence, leading Simplifi Defendants to creating multiple “dummy 

accounts” for LDS Nonmembers thereby billing one elderly widowed catholic resident 

with a senior impaired water right $2,613.54 for a “water base fee” in February 2018.23  

See Exhibit C and Exhibit D. 

Furthermore, Defendants failed to inform Canyon residents such as Ms. Penske that 

the Utah State Engineer had expressly rejected the construction of large-diameter 

commercial wells in 1966 and had warned against continued groundwater mining of the 

Canyon’s Freeze Creek Aquifer on December 15, 1995.24  See audio recording entitled 

“Utah State Engineer Hearing – Barnett Testimony (December 15, 1995)” available at 

 
23 Complaint at page 9, nos. 34 and 36.  
24 Id. at no. 39.  
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website administered by The ECHO-Association at https://echo-

association.com/?page_id=2204. 

As predicted, the Canyon stream suffered total depletion in August 201825 and Ms. 

Penske’s well was rendered unsuitable for culinary drinking water on June 2, 2021.26   

To establish a conspiracy claim under § 1985(3), and survive a motion to dismiss, 

the plaintiff must demonstrate as plausible:  

 

1) a conspiracy involving two or more individuals;  
 
2) that the conspiracy was entered into for the purpose of depriving, 
directly or indirectly, a person or class of persons of the equal protection of 
the laws;  
 
3) an act in furtherance of the conspiracy occurred; 
 
4) and such act caused injury to a person or property, or a deprivation of 
any right or privilege of a citizen of the United States. 
 
5)  prove that the conspiracy was motivated by racial, or other class-based, 
invidiously discriminatory animus.  Hunt v. City of Toledo Law Dept., 881 
F. Supp. 2d 854 - Dist. Court, ND Ohio 2012 citing Johnson v. Hills & 
Dales Gen. Hosp., 40 F.3d 837, 839 (6th Cir. 1994), cert. denied, 514 U.S. 
1066, 115 S.Ct. 1698, 131 L.Ed.2d 560 (1995) and Griffin v. Breckenridge, 
403 U.S. 88, 102, 91 S.Ct. 1790, 1798, 29 L.Ed.2d 338 (1971).  

 
25 Id. at page 8, no. 29; see also Salt Lake Tribune article entitled “Salt Lake Tribune – 
“Why is Emigration Creek — a Historic Utah Waterway — Dry?” at the website 
administered by The ECHO-Association available at https://echo-
association.com/?page_id=405.  
26 Id. at page 10, 43. 
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In this regard, the Complaint alleges the following: EID does not have employees 

and operates entirely through private independent contractors such as Simplifi 

Defendants.27  Deputy Mayor Hawkes, Mr. Hawkes and Defendant Bennion are residents 

of the Canyon as well as members of the predominant religious and social community.28  

To increase revenue, and to prevent default of federally-backed loan obligations secured 

with the legal advice of Utah Attorney Cook, Simplifi created multiple “accounts” for LDS 

Nonmembers not connected to the Boyer Water System and then commenced tax-

foreclosure proceedings against LDS Nonmember Ms. Penske with the assistance of Utah 

Attorney Cook.29  In order to ensure that Simplifi was not forced to commence tax-

foreclosure sale against fellow LDS Members of the Emigration Canyon Ward, Defendant 

Bennion, acting in his capacity as a LDS Bishop, admonished LDS Members of their 

“moral obligation” to pay fees and costs assessed by Simplifi in order to prevent EID’s 

financial collapse30 thereby securing continued water service to Mr. Bennion’s private 

residence while simultaneously contaminating Ms. Penske’s private well and thereby 

impairing a constitutionally protected senior property right to clean, safe drinking water.31 

In order to remain living in her home, on March 13, 2019, Ms. Penske rendered payment 

of $1,304.86 to the Salt Lake County Treasurer although Ms. Penske documented 

 
27 Id. at page 2, no. 11 and page 5, no. 20.  
28 Id. at page 4, no. 14.  
29 Id. at page 9, nos. 36 and 37. 
30 Id. at nos. 8 and 9. 
31 Id. at page 10, nos. 39 and 43.  
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contamination of her private well via operation of large-diameter commercial wells by 

Simplifi Defendants as predicted.32  

Lastly, regarding “class-based, invidiously discriminatory animus” the Complaint 

documents that LDS Nonmembers who refused to render payment for the benefit of Deputy 

Mayor Hawkes, Mr. Hawkes, and Defendant Bennion et al. are publicly disparaged as “of 

the devil … the father of contention”33 or marginalized by Canyon officials.  See e.g., email 

correspondence by Emigration Canyon Metro Township Member Gary Bowen and 

Emigration Canyon Ward member, attached as Exhibit E at Exhibit No. A; see also audio 

recordings entitled “EID Trustee Chairman Hughes on His Role as a Publicly Elected 

Official” and “EID Trustee Chairman Hughes on Lowering the Water Table and 

Impairment of Private Wells” and “EID Trustee Chairman Hughes on Impairment of the 

Emigration Canyon Steam” available at the website administered by The ECHO-

Association at https://echo-association.com/?page_id=1661. 

Lastly, misrepresentations concerning the misuse of public funds for the financial 

gain of LDS Members including Deputy Mayor Hawkes, Mr. Hawkes and Defendant 

Bennion are both alleged in the Complaint and well documented.  See Community letter, 

attached as Exhibit F and EID Trustee Meeting dated March 18, 2010, attached as Exhibit 

G; see also PDF document entitled “Billing for Legal Services Provided to EID by 

 
32 To date, Ms. Penske continues to receive certified payment demands for “water base 
fees” submitted by Simplifi Defendants for tax collection by the Salt Lake County 
Treasurer.  
33 Id. at no. 40.  
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Attorney Gerald H. Kinghorn (PKH)” at the website administered by The ECHO-

Association at https://echo-association.com/?page_id=6073. 

The Complaint alleges certification of tax-foreclosure sale by Simplifi through 

Deputy Mayor Hawkes and Mr. Hawkes with the defective legal advice of Utah Attorney 

Cook and moral declarations of Defendant Bennion directed toward the predominate 

religious and social group of the Canyon community. 

As such, the Complaint supports a plausible inference of a conspiracy of two or 

more persons, willfully deprivation of constitutionally protected right to safe drinking 

water and thus and private property, an act in furtherance of the conspiracy, and injury via 

class-based animus.  

III.  CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, Mr. Tracy requests that the Court deny Defendants’ 

Motions to Dismiss or in the alternative grant leave to file amended complaint.  

 

DATED this 24th day of September, 2021.  

 

 

MARK CHRISTOPHER TRACY DBA 
EMIGRATION CANYON HOME OWNERS 
ASSOCIATION 

    

 

/s/ Mark Christopher Tracy 
Mark Christopher Tracy  
Pro Se Plaintiff



 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 I hereby certify that on the 24th day of September, 2021, a true and correct copy of 
the foregoing MEMORADUM IN OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANTS’ MOTIONS TO 
DISMISS was served via email to the following: 
 
 

Bradley Strassberg 
bstrassberg@ck.law  
 
  - and -  
 
Jeremy R. Cook 
jcook@ck.law  
COHNE KINGHORN, P.C.  
111 E. Broadway, Suite 1100  
Salt Lake City, UT 84111 
Attorneys for Simplifi Company, Jennifer Hawkes,  
Eric Lee Hawkes and Jeremy R. Cook 
 
 
Eric A. Olson 

 eolson@mohtrial.com  
 

  - and - 
 
  Brad C. Sweat 
 bsweat@mohtrial.com  

MARSHALL OLSON & HULL, P.C. 
Newhouse Building 
Ten Exchange Place, Suite 350 
Salt Lake City, Utah 84111 

 Attorneys for David Bennion 
      
      
 
      /s/ Mark Christopher Tracy 
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EXHIBIT B 

  



 

 

EMIGRATION IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

REGULAR MEETING 

THURSDAY, MARCH 6, 2003 

CAMP KOSTOPULOS, 2500 EAST EMIGRATION CANYON ROAD 

SALT LAKE CITY, UTAH 

 
Board Members in Attendance:  Bill Bowen, Lynn Hales, Mike Hughes 

Ex Officio:  Fred Smolka–EID General Manager, Don Barnett–Barnett Intermountain Water 
Consulting, Gerald H. Kinghorn–Legal Counsel, Ron Rash–Carollo Engineers 

Chair Mike Hughes called the meeting to order at 5:05 p.m. 

 

… 

 

7. Wastewater issues 

Chair Hughes reported that the Acorn Hills system was permitted on December 23, the F 
Cause hearing was completed on March 4, most of the system has been bedded, and they 
have been asked to wait until the F Cause is finished before continuing.  It was requested 
that certain criteria be followed and that reporting be provided to Salt Lake County.  He 
explained that the Emigration Oaks system is owned by The Boyer Company, Dave Bennion, 
City Development, and Beck and requires approval of Emigration Oaks Property Owners to 
cross their road.  He stated that he is doing the construction work on the project, and once 
the project is complete, it will be turned over to the EID to own and operate the system.  He 
confirmed that he is the contractor on the job and that he is not a licensed contractor but 
that he hires and manages the contractors.  He applied for the permit, and the EID is the 
body politic which went to the State to obtain the permit.  He explained that the State 
requires a body politic to petition for a combined waste water system.  He recalled that 
when the well protection zones were established a couple of years ago, five lots in 
Emigration Oaks became unbuildable.  The Board agreed that something needed to be done 
to help those lot owners solve the problem that was created by the District.  He briefly 
described the process they had gone through to come up with a solution.  He explained that 
another group then approached the EID with a similar situation, in which the County 
permitted them to build their homes, then told them they would have to put their waste in 
vaults and have it pumped out.  It was the Board’s opinion that vaults fail, so they also 
agreed to try to move the waste for Acorn Hills off site and combine it into an off-site 
drainfield.  He clarified that the District simply agreed to be the body politic if the properties 
with the problem could find a solution and pay for it.  The property owners did the work to 
find a solution and hired the contractors to get it done.  They also hired Michael Hughes and 
Ecosense Technologies to articulate the process.  He described the increased size and 
redundancy required for a combined system. 



 

 

David Crompton asked if the EID knew Chair Hughes would be the contractor.  Mr. Hughes 
replied that he did not believe there was any question about that.  Mr. Bowen stated that he 
had not realized that Mr. Hughes was the contractor until the February 6 EID meeting when 
he asked the question that he has requested be reflected in those minutes.  Mr. Hales 
stated that he was perfectly aware month after month as this item was on the agenda and 
Chair Hughes reported each month that Chair Hughes was hired by both groups to provide 
engineering support relative to these small community systems. 

Ms. Weyher stated that she had done some research and learned that Ecosense 
Technologies is listed in the telephone book as an LLC; that it does not have a business 
license in the county; that Way Big LLC, which is an owner of Ecosense, is an expired LLC; 
and that Michael Hughes is not a licensed contractor.  She questioned why he represented 
that he was the contractor on this job.  Chair Hughes explained that Ecosense Technologies 
is wholly owned by a company called Liaison.  Way Big took over ownership of Ecosense, 
and it was then acquired by Liaison.  Liaison also does not have a contracting license.  He 
explained that his role is to oversee the contractors who do the work.  He hires the 
engineering firms and construction contractors, all of which are licensed.  He explained that 
lease waivers are signed with all contractors, and each carries the liability for the work they 
perform.  Ms. Weyher stated that it was obvious that Chair Hughes was not a contractor and 
did not know how licensed contractors work.  Mr. Hales commented that a number of 
property owners in the canyon have hired people who are not licensed contractors to 
oversee and coordinate construction of their homes.  Ms.  Weyher retorted that they are not 
using public funds.  Chair Hughes and Mr. Hales clarified that the property owners involved 
in these wastewater projects are not using public funds.  Mr. Hales explained that the 
homeowners have simply contracted with Chair Hughes to perform a service for them.  Ms. 
Weyher stated that she spoke with the County and learned that a stop work order was put 
on the Acorn Hills project, and they indicated that they had more concerns about this 
project than she did.  Chair Hughes explained that he attended the F Cause hearing, and 
not a single issue was raised other than that the County did not want him to proceed until a 
vegetation plan had been provided.  Ms. Weyher stated that she would file a complaint with 
the Department of Professional Licensing that Chair Hughes is representing himself as a 
contractor. 

Margot McCallum verified with Chair Hughes that he would stand to gain personally from his 
work on this project and asked if he believed that was a fair business practice since he is 
Chair of the EID Board.  Chair Hughes replied that he had no problem with it.  Ms. McCallum 
asked if this project was put out to bid so other contractors could bid on it.  Chair Hughes 
explained that the work is not being done by the District, and that question is not 
relevant.  He explained that the EID’s only involvement is that they will take ownership of a 
completed system and manage it into perpetuity.  Ms. McCallum stated that she had an 
issue with Chair Hughes gaining financially from a project in which the EID is involved. 

Mr. Crompton maintained that the project could not have proceeded without the EID 
obtaining the permit.  Therefore, Chair Hughes would not have been able to make any 
money unless the Board had voted in favor of the project proceeding.  Chair Hughes 
explained that he would have made money on the work he did for the property owners 
whether or not the EID agreed to take over and maintain the systems, and he did not 
believe a conflict existed.  He stated that he has discussed every aspect of this project every 
month for a year and a half, and the minutes will reflect that.  He explained that the EID 
caused something to happen to the property owners, that no one did anything about solving 



 

 

it, and that the Board felt obligated to do something to help solve the problem.  Mr. Bowen 
agreed that was the case with Emigration Oaks, but he did not believe the same argument 
could be made for Acorn Hills.  Chair Hughes explained how the Acorn Hills situation was 
similar because the County wanted to force owners of homes that had already been built to 
put their waste into vaults.  He recalled that Mr. Bowen, in meeting after meeting, had 
commented that vaults fail and are not a good idea, and that has been the Board’s position 
throughout this process.  Mr. Bowen agreed that he had said that vaults fail and stated that 
these two systems are not the only systems of this type being considered.  He was aware of 
one other area in Emigration Oaks where a source protection problem exists.  He admitted 
that he may not have paid sufficient attention to the location of Acorn Hills and that Acorn 
Hills did not have the source protection issue associated with it.  He believed the taped 
records could demonstrate that he was either not listening or that the distinction was not 
well articulated. 

Chair Hughes believed it was odd that this appeared to be such a surprise to everyone when 
there have probably been 30 meetings where this was discussed.  The Board has talked 
about it to the point that the other Board Members got irritated when he discussed issues 
related to the wastewater systems at the meetings.  He did not believe there was any 
contractor who would have gone through the process.  He commented that it has been a 
nightmare to get it to this point, including a multitude of design changes with Salt Lake 
County, the State of Utah, the Division of Drinking Water, and the property owners.  He 
stated that he had not tried to hide anything about what was happening.  He noted that the 
people who will receive the benefit are thrilled to have a solution, are paying for it 
completely, and not one dime of public funds will go into these systems.  The systems they 
will get are three times the system they would have if they did not have to meet the criteria 
required for this type of system.  He was proud of what he had been able to accomplish, 
and he did not have any apologies for the work he had done.  He stated that, if people want 
to complain and slow their neighbors’ progress, they should do what they think they need to 
do.  The reality is that the property owners had a problem, no one stepped up to help them, 
he did what he could, the District did what it had to do with its eyes completely open, and 
the records and the minutes will reflect that. 

Kathy Christensen, a homeowner in Emigration Oaks, commented that she appreciated what 
the District has done, and she believed the people in attendance who had come to take pot 
shots at the Board were being unfair.  She believed they were entitled to their point of view, 
but they are criticizing rather than trying to do anything constructive to solve 
problems.  She appreciated the members of the Board who have tried to solve problems for 
property owners who cannot get their homes built through no fault of their own. 

Ron Draughon asked Chair Hughes if he had recused himself from any vote from which he 
could derive financial gain, such as the vote to obtain the permits which allowed him to do 
the work which resulted in his financial gain.  Chair Hughes replied that he did not.  Mr. 
Kinghorn clarified that the EID Board authorized Chair Hughes to work with the homeowners 
to find a solution because the homeowners were in a quandary about how to deal with the 
source protection zone, and no one knew what would ultimately happen.  Chair Hughes 
came back each month and reported on the alternatives they had tried.  There is now a 
system that has been approved by the State, and Mr. Kinghorn had a draft policy to 
distribute to the Board this evening.  No vote has been taken on the policy or the contract, 
and Chair Hughes will have to file a disclosure and should recuse himself from voting on the 
final contract because he does stand to make a financial gain.  However, the contract is not 



 

 

yet before the Board for a vote.  Mr. Kinghorn stated that he did not believe anyone could 
have anticipated that this process would have ended as it has.  He stated that Chair Hughes 
did what the Board authorized him to do, which was to find a solution to the problem.  He 
agreed that this matter could have been discussed in greater detail so the Board might have 
been better informed about the process, but the report always came at the end of the 
agenda, and the other Board Members asked for a brief report so they could end the 
meeting and go home.  He believed those reports were given short shrift and that the Board 
Members could have asked more questions.  He was not aware that Chair Hughes had ever 
made an attempt to hide anything.  Now the Board is in a position where they need to 
develop a policy and consider where they are.  They should hold a public meeting to discuss 
the issues related to this matter and find a process to get to the end result without unfairly 
damaging anyone, especially those who relied on Chair Hughes who acted in a dual capacity 
when he got the State to approve the system.  Mr. Kinghorn explained that the District will 
manage the system when it is done, and the property owners will be charged a service 
charge to cover the cost of managing it. 

Ms. Weyher stated that she did not wish to personally attack Chair Hughes, but she believed 
it was important that this issue be resolved.  She had no intention of obstructing the 
project, but she believed it was important that the EID work as professionally as possible. 

Chair Hughes noted that the property owners spent more than $20,000 for percolation tests 
and that there is no way to explore a solution without an idea of where the solution can be 
put.  The parties involved had to move forward at some point, and the parties were all 
committed to doing that.  A solution had to be engineered before it could be taken to the 
State to apply for a permit, and engineering is very costly.  He explained that he oversaw 
the work but did not do any of it, and he became manager of the project by default.  The 
solution took on a life of its own, and he did not go out and solicit the work.  He stated that 
he probably stood to lose money on the Acorn Hills project.  That did not matter to him 
because the property owners had been through so much, and he felt bad about that.  He 
was happy to help and was proud of the work he had done. 

Mr. Bowen stated that he believed Mr. Kinghorn had accurately described the process that 
occurred at the Board meetings and that it had been given short shrift.  He believed that 
contrasted with the work and approaches the Board has taken on other projects where they 
have been more careful.  He noted that they spent thousands of hours on the Emigration 
Oaks expansion area, which he believed was approached with meticulous detail and full and 
complete understanding.  He believed they had made mistakes and not proceeded carefully 
in this instance.  He referred to the February 6 meeting minutes.  He noted that they state 
that Mr. Kinghorn indicated that he would have to come up with a risk assessment and that 
he believed the risk would be very low.  However, in a personal conversation Mr. Bowen had 
with Mr. Kinghorn, Mr. Kinghorn had indicated that the risk assessment was difficult for him 
to undertake because this had never been done before.  Mr. Kinghorn commented that this 
is a pioneering effort to try to solve these problems.  Mr. Bowen stated that he believed the 
process had failed materially and accepted his share of the responsibility for that.  He 
recalled that Chair Hughes reported on this process numerous times, and as Mr. Bowen 
thought back over the conversations, he would characterize them as reporting on the 
technologies and bureaucratic processes with the State, not with the action and operational 
issues that were undertaken.  He stated that, when Chair Hughes reported that the Acorn 
Hills project was 75% completed at the February meeting, he was shocked and wondered 



 

 

how things had reached that point so quickly.  Mr. Bowen believed the Board had 
abandoned its methodical public processes in this case. 

Mr. Hales stated that he had a different view of the process and that he concluded 
differently than Mr. Bowen.  He believed this item had been on at least 80% of the agendas 
for the last 18 months.  He wanted it to be clear that the problem in Emigration Oaks was 
caused by the EID Board and their desire to provide a source protection zone and that the 
Board imposed restrictions on a number of previously platted and sold lots in Emigration 
Oaks.  That resulted in discussions by the Board of what their liability to the lot owners 
might be.  In his mind it was always clear where this process was headed, which was that 
the EID would ultimately take ownership of the wastewater systems upon appropriate 
contractual agreements with the lot owners.  Those contracts would deal with liability, 
repair, associated fees, etc.  Acorn Hills had a similar situation, not with an immediate 
source protection problem, but with the District planning to supply water on that street.  He 
believed Chair Hughes had given reports of all the aspects of the project.  He explained that 
the District is still pursuing a process of contractually binding the lot owners to terms that 
the EID and community can tolerate where risks are understood to the extent they can be 
understood and where the fees will come from the home owners, not tax payers.  He 
believed that, if the people Chair Hughes contracted with to provide services have a 
problem, that is between them, and he was not aware of any problems.  He did not see that 
this process created a responsibility on the Board that they were not willing or wanting to 
take on, and he would be willing to speak under oath to his opinions.  He noted that he 
attended every Board meeting, and he did not understand where the comments expressed 
this evening were coming from.  He noted that the people who contracted with Chair 
Hughes are not at this meeting complaining about the situation.  He was not certain about 
the purpose of the attacks from the public or whether people were attacking Chair Hughes, 
the Board, or the process. 

Ms. Weyher stated that the State of Utah penalizes people and makes it impossible for them 
to work in the future if they represent themselves as contractors and are not.  Mr. Hales 
explained that the EID has not contracted with Chair Hughes, and he has not made that 
representation to the Board.  Ms. Weyher stated that she was talking about being a 
contractor, hiring subcontractors, overseeing a project, and having the proper licensing to 
insure that person is personally responsible if something goes wrong.  Mr. Hales replied that 
the important thing for the Board to consider if they enter into contracts to take 
responsibility for the two systems is that they have the responsibility to assess the systems 
as they are in the ground, not necessarily how they got in the ground.  The Board will 
review the contracts with the owners to be certain that the systems meet the purpose for 
which they were designed and that the liabilities for those systems are with the appropriate 
parties. 

Mr. Kinghorn explained that one aspect of the contract requires Ecosense to warrant to the 
District that the systems work in compliance with the construction permits, so there will be 
a contractual relationship between Ecosense and the District.  One problem with disclosures 
at this point is that the District is still working through the terms of the contractual 
relationship.  This is a work in progress, and there is no final contract.  He recommended 
that a meeting be held to discuss the policies and contractual issues, after which the Board 
can make some decisions about this process before the contract is finalized. 

Mr. Hales noted that the Board always asks for Mr. Kinghorn’s recommendations as they 
have this evening, and the record will show that they have asked for his opinion regarding 



 

 

legalities throughout this process.  He could not remember a time when the Board had 
acted outside of Mr. Kinghorn’s recommendations, and that is what they are doing with this 
process. 

Ms. Weyher asked Chair Hughes again if his business was legitimate and whether he had a 
business license.  Chair Hughes replied that he does have a business license under the 
name of Liaison. 

Ms. McCallum stated that this was not a personal attack on Chair Hughes but was a matter 
of the process by which the EID Board conducts its business.  She believed the EID had a 
contract with Chair Hughes because the permit had to be acquired by the EID.  She believed 
a relationship existed that is perceived by the public to be something that it is not, and she 
believed Board Members needed to be very careful about appearances. 

Chair Hughes stated that sometimes people lose sight of the idea that this is about public 
service.  It was the public that had the problem, and it was the public that the EID tried to 
serve.  He explained that the EID Board was formed to provide water and sewer to 
Emigration Canyon, and sometimes people lose sight of the fact they are supposed to be 
providing service to the public.  He noted that these property owners could not build on 
their lots or move into their homes for months on end because the EID was trying to keep 
their well clean for the rest of the people on the water system. 

Mr. Crompton stated that he believed Chair Hughes should have recused himself from any 
further action on the Board as soon as he realized he stood to make a financial gain from 
this process.  Mr. Draughon stated that he was concerned about the legality of any vote that 
was taken on this issue in the past where Mr. Hughes did not recuse himself.  Mr. Bowen 
stated that he did not recall after reviewing the minutes that the Board had taken a vote to 
obtain the permit.  Mr. Hales stated that he has asked the County Attorney on a number of 
occasions what constitutes a conflict of interest, and each attorney he has spoken with has 
his own opinion.  He stated that he had never heard a unanimous agreement of what 
constitutes a conflict of interest, and many people may disagree with Mr. Crompton’s 
opinion.  Mr. Crompton stated that he believed when it comes to material gain the 
ordinance is clear.  Mr. Hales replied that he had read the ordinance and did not see that 
Chair Hughes was in conflict based on his contracting with the property owners nor that his 
role as EID Chair had brought him any gain.  He noted that many people in the canyon 
contract with other people in the canyon to provide a service for them.  Mr. Crompton 
argued that the Acorn Hills sewer project would not be approved if the EID Board does not 
agree to contract for its maintenance, and Chair Hughes’ material gain from that project 
depends on his vote.  Mr. Hales stated that he believed the people had paid Chair Hughes as 
the project went along, and his compensation did not depend on the Board taking over the 
system.  Chair Hughes confirmed that was correct. 

Mr. Smolka noted that another special improvement district could potentially have been 
formed to take over the sewer systems.  Mr. Bowen recalled that Mr. Kinghorn had made a 
statement that this system relied on approval by the EID because it is the only special 
improvement district in the jurisdiction.  He had been impressed by the idea that it was the 
EID or nothing.  Mr. Kinghorn recalled that he stated his opinion as being that the State 
would not approve a community wastewater system unless it was operated by a public 
entity, and he did not think they would approve it for a homeowners association.  The 
problem with predicting what the State might do with this situation is that the State has 
never worked with one of these systems before.  These two systems are the first ever 



 

 

 

 

approved in the State of Utah.  He had been uncertain how this would develop, because the 
regulations depended on the type of technology employed. 

MOTION:  Bill Bowen moved to ALLOCATE time to adequately discuss the wastewater 
systems topic at the next regularly scheduled Board meeting and that the District make a 
substantial effort to inform the public of the issues to be discussed.  He believed a 
newsletter should be distributed and that it should be posted on the web site.  Lynn Hughes 
seconded the motion. 

VOTE:  Unanimous in favor of the motion. 

Mr. Hales stated that he was not certain that the Board was at a point where the policy 
could be finalized before April 10 and posted for public review.  Mr. Bowen stated that the 
policy itself could either be a detailed item on the agenda that evening or not, depending on 
whether or not it is ready. 
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EMIGRATION IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES REGULAR MEETING 

THURSDAY, MARCH 18, 2010 

EMIGRATION CANYON FIRE STATION 

5025 EMIGRATION CANYON ROAD 

SALT LAKE CITY, UTAH 

  

Board Members in Attendance:  Mike Hughes – Chairman, David C. Bradford, Mark Stevens 

Ex Officio:  Fred Smolka – EID General Manager, Jerry Kinghorn—Legal Counsel 

 

3.                  Future projects – feasibility work 

… 

Mr. Smolka reported that substantial progress has been made in the Pinecrest area, and 
Lynn Hales has been meeting with John Walsh to reach an agreement.  It is proposed that 
the EID would purchase an interest in the 6-inch pipeline Mr. Walsh has already installed 
and be given the right to go to the spring.  Mr. Smolka indicated a potential location for the 
EID reservoir, which would not be on Mr. Walsh’s property.  The water could gravity flow 
into the reservoir, and a line could be brought from the reservoir into Mr. Walsh’s line.  It 
appears that the EID might be able to get enough water from Secret Spring to provide for 
the entire Canyon for five or six months of the year.  Chair Hughes explained that, if the 
EID could show that not using Thomas Spring and developing Secret Spring would not affect 
stream flows, Mr. Walsh’s concerns should be alleviated. The spring was tested in late 
summer conditions and was flowing at 67 gpm, which mean it would be possible to use the 
spring without affecting stream flow or Mr. Walsh’s water flow.  Mr. Smolka explained that, 
if the EID could net 50 gpm during the winter when it will not affect flows to areas further 
downstream, that would provide 72,000 gallons per day, and the EID’s current winter use is 
about 50,000 gallons per day.  Mr. Stevens asked if the EID would have to sign away rights 
to Thomas Spring.  Mr. Kinghorn replied that Mr. Walsh has not talked about the EID giving 
up that point of diversion.  Mr. Smolka indicated the location of the Bertagnole property and 
recalled that the EID is hoping the Bertagnoles might deed a portion of their land to the 
EID.  Mr. Kinghorn reported that the Bertagnoles are in the process of having their property 
appraised. Chair Hughes noted that, even with the spring, the EID will need another water 
source and should be actively seeking one, and he would not want to give up a point of 
diversion anywhere. 

 


